FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/9/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/9/2024 8:44 AM

NO. 85652-9

Case #: 1030541

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

#### IN RE THE DETENTION OF

RANDY ROSS, Appellant.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Christine A. Jackson, WSBA No. 17192 Devon Gibbs, WSBA No. 31438 Attorneys for Appellant

The Defender Association Division
King County Department of Public Defense
710 Second Avenue, Suite 700
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 477-8700, ext. 78819
Christine.jackson@kingcounty.gov
Devon.gibbs@kingcounty.gov

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Randy Ross, appellant below and petitioner here, seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision cited in Section II.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision In *re the Detention of Randy Ross*, No. 85652-9-I, slip opinion filed April 29, 2024. Appendix 1.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does RCW 71.09.060(2) grant the right to have a jury decide whether Petitioner committed the sexually violent acts charged because "all constitutional rights available to defendants at criminal trials, other than the right not to be tried while incompetent, shall apply"?

Does the statute permit the indefinite detention of the most vulnerable respondents –those who cannot understand the proceedings against them or assist counsel—without the opportunity for a jury to determine if they committed the predicate sexually violent acts where every other respondent

subject to commitment under RCW 71.09 has had the predicate offense adjudicated in the criminal justice system?

Does the use of the word "court" in RCW 71.09.060(2) -- as opposed to "court or jury" in RCW 71.09.060(1)-- override the express grant of "all constitutional rights" where the right to a jury is not specifically excluded?

Do the statutory findings on the impact of Petitioner's incompetency preclude the right to a jury?

Does due process require the right to a jury trial in this case?

#### IV. INTRODUCTION

In RCW 71.09.060(2), the Legislature created a unique proceeding for a unique group of respondents who, like Mr. Ross, were incompetent to stand trial on the predicate sexually violent offense. The statute's core purpose is to require the State to prove the predicate sexually violent offense beyond a reasonable doubt at a hearing that provides all constitutional

criminal trial rights.<sup>1</sup> This statute protects incompetent respondents like Mr. Ross from a massive curtailment of liberty based on conduct that has never been tested in the crucible of the courts.

The State seeks to indefinitely commit Randy Ross as a sexually violent predator. But, unlike all other respondents, Mr. Ross has never been convicted of or found to have committed a sexually violent offense.<sup>2</sup> He was charged with such offenses

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See In re the Detention of Stout, 159 Wn.2d 357, 376, 150 P.3d 86 (2007) ("An incompetent SVP detainee has not yet stood trial for the underlying criminal offense that predicates the SVP petition against him . . . the incompetent detainee has not yet been afforded an opportunity to exercise his criminal trial rights. It is rational, then to allow him or her to do so at the SVP commitment proceeding . . . .").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The State may only file an SVP petition against someone who falls within one of the five classes of persons who have been *charged with or convicted of* sexually violent offenses. RCW 71.09.030(1)(a)-(e). The persons described in (a), (b) and (e) have all been convicted of a sexually violent offense. (Juvenile adjudications are considered convictions. *In re Detention of Anderson*, 185 Wn.2d 79, 86, 368 P.3d 162 (2016)). Subsection (d) applies to persons found not guilty by reason of insanity and, thus, were found to have committed the charged offense. RCW 10.77.040; WPIC 20.03 Insanity –Order of Consideration. Subsection (c) only applies to persons, like Mr.

in 2015 and 2022 and found incompetent to be prosecuted. As a result, the charges were dismissed and never adjudicated.

After the 2022 charge was dismissed, the State filed a sexually violent predator petition against Mr. Ross. In this situation, prior to the commitment trial, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Ross committed the acts charged in the 2022 information in the proceeding prescribed in RCW 71.09.060(2). Appendix 2. The statute directs "the court" to hold a hearing and hear evidence on this issue. The procedure and scope of the rights at this hearing are clearly stated.

The hearing on this issue *must comply* with all the procedures specified in this section. In addition, the rules of evidence applicable in criminal cases shall apply, and *all constitutional rights available to defendants in criminal trials*, *other than the right not to be tried while incompetent*, *shall apply*.

Ross, who were charged with a sexually violent offense but found incompetent to stand trial.

(Emphasis added.) RCW 71.09.060(2).<sup>3</sup> Appendix 2. This clear, mandatory grant of *all* constitutional criminal trial rights (with only one exception) guarantees Mr. Ross the right to have a jury decide beyond a reasonable doubt whether he committed the predicate sexually violent acts charged in the 2022 information. This core issue is one juries routinely decide in our justice system.

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2015, Mr. Ross was charged with three sexually violent offenses alleged to have occurred between July 2011 and July 2014. CP 64-72. Mr. Ross was found incompetent and not restorable, the charges were dismissed, and Mr. Ross was committed to Western State Hospital (WSH) on February 10, 2016. CP 22-25, 54. The State did not file a sexually violent predator petition when Mr. Ross was released from WSH in September 2016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Both the Washington and federal constitutions guarantee a defendant the right to a jury at a criminal trial. Art. 1, sec. 21 and 22. U.S. Const. Amend. 6.

On November 29, 2022, Mr. Ross was charged with Attempted Child Molestation, First Degree alleged to have occurred on August 7, 2022. CP 2, 49. A competency evaluation was ordered. The evaluator found Mr. Ross to be incompetent and not restorable. CP 50-62. The court adopted these findings and dismissed the charge on June 8, 2023. CP 48-49.

That same day, the State filed a petition to commit Mr.

Ross as a sexually violent predator pursuant to RCW

71.09.030(1)(c).<sup>4</sup> The parties agreed to a date for the RCW

71.09.060(2) trial. Appendix 4.<sup>5</sup> Mr. Ross demanded a jury

trial. CP 82-88. The trial judge denied the motion, reading the

statute to designate the judge as the sole trier of fact to decide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The trial court made a preliminary finding that probable cause exists to believe Mr. Ross is a sexually violent predator. RCW 71.09.040(2). Mr. Ross was then transferred to the Special Commitment Center on McNeil Island and will be detained there until trial. RCW 71.09.040(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The trial was continued to June 3, 2024. Appendix 5. The parties are conducting discovery and preparing for trial.

beyond a reasonable doubt whether Mr. Ross committed the predicate sexually violent offense. CP 94-95. The Court of Appeals granted Mr. Ross's motion for discretionary review but affirmed the trial judge. Mr. Ross seeks review in this Court.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals on statutory construction. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). Specifically, the decision renders superfluous the plain statutory language, fails to apply the rule on exceptions and strictly construe the statute, undermines the legislative intent, and violates due process.

Statutory interpretation is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *In re Detention of Williams*, 147 Wash.2d 476, 486, 55 P.3d 597 (2002).

1. The Court of Appeals erroneously carved out the right to a jury from the scope of rights available at the hearing.

The Court of Appeals erroneously held that the right to a jury is not available at the hearing where "all constitutional rights available to defendants at criminal trials, other than the

right not to be tried while incompetent, shall apply." RCW 71.09.060(2). Appendix 2. The Court did not address the meaning of this clear, mandatory language –except to say that the phrase does not include the right to a jury. Instead, the Court characterized RCW 71.09.060(2) as a "preliminary hearing" on a "specific evidentiary issue" comparable to a motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3(c) or to admit evidence under ER 404(b). Slip op. at 11. From this framework, Court concluded the following.

Because juries do not determine motions to dismiss or motions to exclude certain evidence and thus such hearings do not involve a "constitutional right available to defendants at criminal trials," the preliminary hearing in RCW 71.09.060(2) likewise does not implicate the constitutional right to a jury determination.

This reading of the statute renders superfluous key statutory language, conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of appeals on the rule on exceptions, fails to give effect to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The Court spent the bulk of its opinion discussing the language and role of "the court" in RCW 71.09.060(1) and (2) vis-à-vis a jury. Those arguments are discussed below.

intent of the Legislature and fails to strictly construe the statute.

The Legislature clearly and specifically delineated the scope of the rights at the hearing provided in RCW 71.09.060(2): *all* constitutional rights available to defendants at criminal *trials*, other than the right not to be tried while incompetent, *shall apply*. By carving out the right to a jury, the Court of Appeals decision renders superfluous the words "all," "trials" and "shall apply" and conflicts with appellate decisions on this point.<sup>7</sup>

To carve out the jury right from "all constitutional rights available . . . at criminal trials" the court disregarded the descriptor "all," the single exception (the right not to be tried while incompetent), the rights granted are "trial" rights (rather than those in preliminary hearings), and the mandatory directive "shall apply." This is not a reasonable reading of the plain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> "Statutes must be interpreted and construed so that all the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous." *Whatcom Cy. V. City of Bellingham*, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996).

language. Excluding the right to a jury undermines the clear legislative intent to create a process where incompetent individuals are provided the opportunity to exercise all their constitutional trial rights to challenge the sexually violent acts charged. See In re the Detention of Stout, supra. This process provides an "additional safeguard" designed to "protect incompetent individuals." In re Detention of Greenwood, 130 Wn.App. 277, 285, 122 P.3d 747 (2005).

Assuming for the sake of argument that the hearing in RCW 71.09.060(2) is a preliminary evidentiary hearing (in so far as it occurs prior to the civil commitment trial), the Legislature clearly stated that *all* criminal *trial* rights *shall* apply at the hearing on the issue of whether the person did commit the acts or acts charged. RCW 71.09.060(2). This grant of rights does not turn on whether the proceeding is characterized as a trial versus a hearing, a preliminary

determination of facts<sup>8</sup> versus the ultimate question of commitment, or civil versus criminal.<sup>9</sup>

The Court of Appeals' decision also conflicts with appellate decisions on the rule on exceptions. When the Legislature includes one exception, but not others, the courts presume that any omissions were intended. *State v. Taylor*, 97 Wn.2d 724, 728, 649 P.2d 633 (1982); *In re PRP of Acron*, 122 Wn.App. 886, 890, 95 P.3d 1272 (2004); *Khandelwal v. Seattle* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Moreover, the issue at this hearing--whether Mr. Ross committed the acts charged in the 2022 information-- is not comparable to the pretrial hearings listed by the Court of Appeals. This issue is akin to the ultimate issue at a criminal trial –whether the defendant committed the crime charged in the information—where the defendant has the right to a jury. Also, preliminary hearings at criminal trials do involve constitutional criminal trial rights –the rights against self-incrimination, to be present, to counsel, and others.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The civil nature of RCW 71.09 is also not dispositive. RCW 71.09 is civil, not criminal or punitive. *In re Detention of Young*, 122 Wash.2d 1, 18–25, 857 P.2d 989 (1993). Yet, the Legislature chose to provide jury trials at various stages of the commitment process in RCW 71.09, even though the verdicts do not result in punishment. Civil commitment, while not punishment, involves a massive curtailment of liberty.

Municipal Court, 6 Wn.App. 233, 332, 431 P.3d 506 (2018).<sup>10</sup> The Legislature allowed only a single exception to the grant of all constitutional criminal trial rights –the one necessary to allow the matter to proceed --the right not to be tried while incompetent.<sup>11</sup> There are no other exceptions. The Court of Appeals disregards the inherent contradiction in asserting the Legislature conferred all constitutional criminal trial rights, expressly excluded one fundamental right (not to be tried while incompetent), and silently implied the exclusion of another fundament right (to a jury). This seems even more unlikely if, as the court asserts, the Legislature intended only a judge to decide the sole question at the hearing --whether Mr. Ross committed the acts charged.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Court of Appeals claims that, absent an ambiguity, the Court will not resort to any rules of statutory construction. Slip op. at 4. However, the rule on exceptions was applied in *Taylor, Acron* and *Khandelwal* to the unambiguous statute or court rule at issue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Also, since the statute only applies to incompetent persons, that one exception is surplusage unless it is the only exception.

The Court of Appeals also failed to strictly construe the grant of rights and conflicts with this Court's precedent. "We strictly construe statutes curtailing civil liberties *to their terms*." (Emphasis added.) *In re Detention of Martin*, 163 Wn.2d 501, 508, 182 P.3d 951 (2008). Instead of reading the express terms of "all constitutional rights available to defendants at criminal trials" to include the right to a jury, the Court of Appeals carved out the jury right. This holding also violates Mr. Ross's right to due process. Civil incarceration that is noncompliant with the statutory process deprives a person of basic liberty without the process due. *Id.* at 511.

# 2. The Court of Appeals erroneously reads "court" to mean only "judge" to exclude the right to a jury.

The Court of Appeals concluded based on a single dictionary definition that "court" as used in the statute means only "judge" and, thus, precludes a jury as the trier of fact.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The dictionary referenced by the Court also has a broader definition that includes other judicial decision makers: "3a: an official assembly for the transaction of judicial business."

Slip op. 7-8. The court reads the statute through this single lens and discards as surplusage any conflicting language.

"Court" does not always mean "judge" in RCW 71.09.060(2). The last sentence of RCW 71.09.060(2) states "the court . . . may proceed to consider whether the person should be committed pursuant to this section," if the charged acts are proved. Here, "court" is not limited to a judge as trier of fact because commitment can be decided by a judge or jury. RCW 71.09.050(3); RCW 71.09.060(1). To read "court" in this sentence to mean only "judge" conflicts with those two statutes. 13

\_

<sup>(</sup>www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/court last visited May 7, 2024.) Other standard dictionaries have similar definitions. "Court n. 6: a judicial body or a meeting of a judicial body." The Merriam-Webster Dictionary (11<sup>th</sup> ed. 2019). "Court n. 10 a) A person or persons appointed to try law cases, make investigations . . ." Webster's New World Dictionary (3<sup>rd</sup> College Edition 1994). None of these standard dictionary definitions exclude a jury as the trier of fact in this statute.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Also, RCW 71.09.060(2) directs "the court" to perform other judicial functions such as hear evidence, make findings, or enter a final order. Slip op. at 9-10. Delegating these judicial functions to the judge does not preclude a jury from deciding

The word "court" in RCW 71.09.060(2) must be read in the context of the specific grant of rights, the purpose of the statute and the legislative intent. The legislative intent as derived from the plain language is to protect incompetent respondents by providing them the full panoply of constitutional criminal trial rights in a proceeding to determine whether they committed the predicate offense. Reading the word "court" to identify the judge as the sole trier of fact undermines this intent and conflicts with the plain language that grants all constitutional criminal trial rights (except one). This language provides for a determination by jury or judge (if the right to a jury is constitutionally waived).

Even assuming for the sake of argument that "court" implies "judge," the specific language "all constitutional rights available to defendants at criminal trials" controls the scope of the rights available at this hearing. "When there is an

whether Mr. Ross committed the acts charged in the 2022 information.

'inescapable conflict' between a statute's general and specific terms, the specific terms prevail." State v. Stately, 152 Wn. App. 604, 609-610, 216 P.3d 1102 (2009). The Court of Appeals claimed that the dictionary definition above "obviated the need to avail ourselves of this principle." Slip op. 8. This singular focus on the word "court" ignores the language that specifically sets forth the scope of rights at this hearing.<sup>14</sup> The word "court" cannot control the scope of the constitutional criminal trial rights without discarding key words in the grant of rights –like "all," "trial" and "other than." A judge sitting as the trier of fact can give effect to all constitutional criminal trial rights only if the person has a jury right to waive and makes a valid waiver. City of Bellevue v. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d 203, 207-208, 691 P.2d 957 (1984). The word "court" does not modify the phrase "all constitutional rights available to criminal defendants at criminal trials." Only the single express

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The court's sole attempt to reconcile "all" constitutional criminal "trial" rights with the judge as trier of fact (Slip op. at 11-12) fails for the reasons stated above in Section A.1.

exception ("other than the right not to be tried while incompetent") does that.

3. The Court of Appeals erroneously uses the language in RCW 71.09.060(1) to exclude the right to a jury in RCW 71.09.060(2). The court fails to recognize the different purpose each statute serves, the different rights granted for those purposes and the different language used to grant those rights.

The Court claims that RCW 71.09.060(2) does not confer the right to a jury because the word "court" is used instead of the phrase "court or jury" used in subsection (1).<sup>15</sup> Reading the two statutes together in this way ignores the fact that the Legislature chose to confer all constitutional criminal trial rights in subsection (2), but not subsection (1). The different language used in each statute reflects the Legislature's choice to treat incompetent respondents differently and to create a process that serves a unique purpose for this unique group of respondents. The fact that the Legislature used only the word

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The Court wrote, "we achieve interpretive harmony when we respect the Legislature's manifest intent to differentiate between the role of the jury in parts of section (1) and the unitary role of the court in section (2)." Slip op. at 10.

"court" in RCW 71.09.060(2) instead of "court or jury" does not override the express grant of "all the constitutional rights available to defendants at criminal trials."

This Court recognized the unique purpose of RCW 71.09.060(2) as a rational basis for treating respondents like Mr. Ross differently from others facing indefinite commitment. *In re Detention of Stout*, 159 Wn.2d 357, 376, 150 P.3d 86 (2007) (rejecting equal protection claim for right to confront at commitment trials).

[A] rational basis for the distinction between competent and incompetent SVP detainees with regard to constitutional protections is readily discernable. An incompetent SVP detainee has not yet stood trial for the underlying criminal offense that predicates the SVP petition against him. See RCW 71.09.060(2). A competent SVP detainee has been convicted or charged under the criminal justice system. See RCW 71.09.020(16). Thus, the competent SVP detainee had an opportunity to contest the charges against him with the full panoply of constitutional rights afforded to a criminal defendant. In contrast, the incompetent SVP detainee has not yet been afforded an opportunity to exercise his criminal trial rights. It is rational, then, to allow him or her to do so at the SVP commitment proceeding, while the competent SVP detainee is not afforded another opportunity to do so. (Emphasis added.)

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