FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/21/2024 2:19 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1030541

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of

RANDY RYAN ROSS,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

NAMI KIM Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> W400 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-1858

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW 4
	1. ROSS PRESENTS NO DECISIONS IN CONFLICT WITH THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION
	2. ROSS FAILS TO PRESENT A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW 9
	3. ROSS' BASIS FOR "SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST" IS UNSUPPORTED 12
F.	CONCLUSION 13

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES		
Page Table of Cases		
Federal:		
Webster v. Fall, 266 U.S. 507, 45 S. Ct. 148, 69 L. Ed. 411 (1925)6		
Washington State:		
<u>In re Detention of Coe</u> , 175 Wn.2d 482, 286 P.3d 29 (2012)		
<u>In re Detention of Greenwood</u> , 130 Wn. App. 277, 122 P.3d 747 (2005)		
In re Detention of Jonathan Green, COA No. 86633-8-I 3, 12		
In re Detention of Randy Ross, No 85652-9, slip opinion filed April 29, 2024		
<u>In re Detention of Stout</u> , 159 Wn.2d 357, 150 P.3d 86 (2007)		
<u>In re Detention of Young</u> , 122 Wn.2d 1, 857 P.2d 989 (1993)		
<u>In re Pers. Restraint of Swagerty</u> , 186 Wn.2d 801, 383 P.3d 454 (2016)		
<u>State v. Arlene's Flowers, Inc.</u> , 193 Wn.2d 469, 441 P.3d 1203 (2019)		
<u>State v. Hughes</u> , 106 Wn.2d 176, 721 P.2d 902 (1986)2		

<u>State v. McCuistion</u> , 174 Wn.2d 369, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012)		
<u>State v. McFarland</u> , 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)		
Statutes		
Washington State:		
Chapter 71.09 RCW		
RCW 71.09.04011		
RCW 71.09.0604, 5, 6, 7, 12		
Rules and Regulations		
Washington State:		
RAP 9.1		
RAP 9.11		
RAP 13.4		
Other Authorities		
WEBSTER'S NEW WORLD DICTIONARY (3 rd College Edition 1994)		

A. <u>IDENTITY OF ANSWERING PARTY</u>

The State of Washington, by and through the Office of the King County Prosecuting Attorney, appears as Respondent here.

B. STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Ross seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision rejecting his claim that he is entitled – prior to his civil commitment trial as a sexually violent predator (SVP) – to empanel a jury for the preliminary determination of whether he

committed the requisite underlying sexually violent offense (SVO). In re Detention of Randy Ross, No 85652-9, slip opinion filed April 29, 2024. Pet. App. 1. The reasoning and authority set out in the Court of Appeals' opinion and the Brief of Respondent below amply demonstrate that the criteria for review are not met in this case. However, there are several points made by Ross in his petition that appear to misstate certain arguments and relevant facts and could thus benefit from clarification here.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The relevant facts are set out in the Court of Appeals' opinion and section B of the Brief of Respondent below, which the State incorporates herein. However, Ross attempts to add materials to his petition that were not in the record nor considered by the trial court and are therefore not properly before this Court.

See RAP 9.1; RAP 9.11; State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 206, 721 P.2d 902 (1986) ("the appellate record is limited to the verbatim report, clerk's papers and exhibits"); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) (an

appellate court cannot accept or consider evidence that is outside the record and not before the trial court).

Specifically, Ross has improperly attached information from a separate SVP case, In re Detention of Jonathan Green, COA No. 86633-8-I, that was never before the court below or considered in producing the decision. Undersigned counsel represents the State in Green and as such, is familiar with the proceedings therein. If this Court were inclined to consider information outside the record regarding the procedural posture and history in Green, the State could provide additional documentation to clarify Ross' mischaracterization of the circumstances of that case. However, because this information is not properly before this Court in the first place, the State does not do so now and asks that Ross' materials not be considered as part of his petition.

E. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

1. ROSS PRESENTS NO DECISIONS IN CONFLICT WITH THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION.

Ross focuses primarily on the first and second criteria for review listed in RAP 13.4(b), asserting that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of this Court and other Court of Appeals' decisions. However, as Ross readily acknowledges in his petition, there are no decisions by any Washington court (published or otherwise) that address the claim that he raised, and which the Court of Appeals properly rejected below: the issue of whether RCW 71.09.060(2) entitles a person to have a jury hear the preliminary issue of whether he committed an SVO. Pet. at 31. Ross therefore cannot establish any "conflict" that could justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Ross identifies the following substantive query as the issue for which he seeks review: "Does RCW 71.09.060(2) grant the right to have a jury decide whether Petitioner committed the

sexually violent acts charged"? Pet. at 7. Yet he also concedes that "[t]he only previously published decision on RCW 71.09.060(2) is <u>In re Detention of Greenwood</u>, 130 Wn. App. 277, 122 P.3d 747 (2005)," which he acknowledges "did not decide the scope of the rights granted" in that RCW 71.09.060(2).¹ Pet. at 31. In other words, Ross concedes that there is no decision – by this Court or the Court of Appeals – that is "in conflict" with <u>Ross</u> or otherwise creates a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).²

¹ There are also no unpublished decisions on this issue.

Petention of Stout, 159 Wn.2d 357, 376, 150 P.3d 86 (2007) as a decision "in conflict" with the Court of Appeals' holding. To the extent that he does so, he is incorrect. Stout did not hold that the "core purpose" of RCW 71.09.060(2) was to guarantee "all criminal trial rights" including the right to a jury at the SVO hearing. Pet. at 8-9, 16, 28. Stout was addressing an SVP's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation in the context of an Equal Protection claim and did not (because it was never asked to) address the statutory construction of language regarding "court" versus "court or jury" in RCW 71.09.060(1) and (2). Stout, 159 Wn.2d at 375-76; see State v. Arlene's Flowers, Inc., 193 Wn.2d 469, 494, 441 P.3d 1203 (2019) (noting court in prior opinion "had no reason to discuss" an argument that had not been raised). Because this Court did not address the statutory construction of

Instead, Ross attempts to re-frame the Court of Appeals' use of general canons of statutory construction as the "decision" that is in conflict with "decisions" of this Court and lower divisions. However, this attempt to markedly stretch the scope of RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) fails for two reasons. First, the purpose of RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) is to limit review of lower decisions that conflict *directly* with the holdings of this Court or sister courts. It is not to provide a forum for parties to argue over the use of

RCW 71.09.060 or the right to a jury at the SVO hearing, Stout does not stand for the proposition that RCW 71.09.060(2) guarantees that right, and thus it in no way conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision in this case. In re Pers. Restraint of Swagerty, 186 Wn.2d 801, 810, 383 P.3d 454 (2016) ("Questions which merely lurk in the record, neither brought to the attention of the court nor ruled upon, are not to be considered as having been so decided as to constitute precedents." (quoting Webster v. Fall, 266 U.S. 507, 511, 45 S. Ct. 148, 69 L. Ed. 411 (1925)).

Even if Stout had been a statutory construction and not an Equal Protection analysis of the right to confrontation, it could rightly reach the conclusion that RCW 71.09.060(2) guarantees a right to confrontation, because nowhere in RCW 71.09.060 is there plain language repeatedly stating that the SVO hearing would be held without live witnesses, as is the case here where RCW 71.09.060(2) repeatedly states that "the court" will be the factfinder.

broad principles of construction, without regard for the actual issues involved. If this was the case, then all decisions employing canons of statutory construction would merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

Second, the Court of Appeals' decision here was not a decision regarding a general canon of statutory construction. No holding was issued that changed or otherwise altered a particular canon or rule. The issue, as Ross himself points out, was the meaning of a particular statute, specifically RCW 71.09.060(2), not the statutory maxim used to construe it. The fact that Ross disagrees with the *substantive result* of the Court of Appeals' application of certain statutory maxims and wants this Court to re-apply them in a manner more favorable to him does not constitute grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

The issue at bar here is whether RCW 71.09.060(2) guaranteed a person the right to a jury to determine whether he committed an underlying SVO. No other decision directly addresses this issue, and there is thus no decision "in conflict" to

justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). This attempt at manufacturing a conflict does not warrant review.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals properly applied principles of statutory construction in this case. While the State will not reiterate the arguments made in the Brief of Respondent and oral arguments below, it will note that in presenting additional, alternate definitions of the word "court" in his petition to counter the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the plain meaning of "court" is "judge" and not "jury," Ross leaves out two critical details. Pet. at 6-8. First, he cites WEBSTER'S NEW WORLD DICTIONARY (3rd College Edition 1994) as defining "court" as "A person or persons appointed to try law cases, make investigations . . . ". Pet. at 19-20 n.12, However, the full entry reads: "A person or persons appointed to try law cases, make investigations, etc.; judge or judges; law court." Id. (emphasis added).

Second, as the Court of Appeals pointed out with the original definitions of "court" that Ross offered, the

WEBSTER'S NEW WORLD definition above, as well as the two other additional definitions cited in his petition ("an official assembly for the transaction of judicial business" and "a judicial body or meeting of a judicial body"),³ all fail in the same way the others did below: they still "do not mention a 'jury' at all and thus, do not support Ross' claim that a 'court' could mean a jury." Slip op. at 7.

Ross has failed to show any conflict. Review is not warranted.

2. ROSS FAILS TO PRESENT A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW.

Ross also fails to establish that this matter presents a significant question of constitutional law meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). In addition to relying on the reasoning presented by the Court of Appeals and the Brief of Respondent below, the State responds to Ross' quarrel in his petition with

³ Pet. at 19-20 n.12.

two aspects of the Court of Appeals' rejection of his due process claim.

First, Ross appears to argue that the Court of Appeals erroneously applied this Court's holding in State v. McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d 369, 393, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012), to reject Ross' claim that the absence of a jury would create a high risk of erroneous deprivation of liberty, asserting that McCuistion is limited to post-commitment scenarios. Pet. at 29-30. This is incorrect. McCuistion held that an SVP's requirements for obtaining a trial on the matter of conditional or unconditional release passed constitutional muster because of the significant procedural safeguards built into the SVP statutory scheme. Id.

However, the efficacy of those procedural safeguards is not limited to post-commitment matters. As this Court has repeatedly stated, the extensive procedural safeguards in chapter 71.09 RCW ensure minimal risk of erroneous deprivation of liberty *throughout* different stages of commitment. See Stout, 159 Wn.2d at 370 (lack of right to confront live witnesses *at trial*

does not violate procedural due process); <u>In re Detention of Coe</u>, 175 Wn.2d 482, 510-11, 286 P.3d 29, 43 (2012) ("A comprehensive set of rights for the SVP detainee already exists" throughout the entire commitment process).

Second, Ross takes issue with the Court of Appeals' holding that an SVO hearing does not result in loss of liberty, contending that this Court's holding in In re Detention of Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 46, 857 P.2d 989 (1993), undermines the Court of Appeals' conclusion. Pet. at 30-31. But Ross' reliance on Young is misplaced, even beyond the incontrovertible fact that the SVO finding results in no incarceration or confinement in and of itself. Young held that "an opportunity to appear in person to contest probable cause" would ameliorate the risk of wrongful detention "during the 45-day period *leading up to trial*" in which his liberty was infringed. Id. In other words, the addition of the right to be present at a probable cause hearing (which has now been codified RCW 71.09.040(2)) protects against the risk of erroneous deprivation until the commencement of the SVP trial itself. Ross

cannot argue that the SVO hearing (which occurs before the SVP trial) somehow negates that protection and creates an additional loss of liberty.

Ross cannot establish a significant question of constitutional law. This Court should deny review.

3. ROSS' BASIS FOR "SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST" IS UNSUPPORTED.

Finally, while Ross correctly acknowledges that there have been no previous decisions addressing the issue of whether RCW 71.09.060(2) provides a right to a jury at the SVO hearing, he presents no authority for an argument that simply being the first decision on an issue (or the fact that he disagrees with that decision) serves as a basis for review. Moreover, as discussed above, while the State believes that Ross mischaracterizes the posture and circumstances of <u>Green</u> in an attempt to establish "substantial grounds for a difference of opinion that should be resolved by this Court," his entire argument on this point is premised on material that is outside of the record and not

properly before this Court. Pet. at 33. To the extent that these materials are properly excluded from consideration as part of Ross' petition, he has thus presented no grounds to review on this basis, and review should be denied.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the petition for review.

This document contains 2,226 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 21st day of June, 2024.

Respectfully submitted,

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

NAMI KIM, WSBA #36633

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent

Office WSBA #91002

KING COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY SVP UNIT

June 21, 2024 - 2:19 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 103,054-1

Appellate Court Case Title: In the Matter of the Detention of Randy Ryan Ross

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 1030541_Answer_Reply_20240621141830SC362440_6688.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 2024-06-21 Answer to Petition for Review.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- christine.jackson@kingcounty.gov
- devon.gibbs@kingcounty.gov
- jennifer.ritchie@kingcounty.gov
- olsonlaw@nventure.com
- · paoappellateunitmail@kingcounty.gov

Comments:

Sender Name: Kelly Lorenzen - Email: Kelly.Lorenzen@kingcounty.gov

Filing on Behalf of: Nami Kim - Email: nami.kim@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email:

paosvpstaff@kingcounty.gov)

Address:

500 Fourth Avenue, 9th Floor

Seattle, WA, 98104 Phone: (206) 477-8519

Note: The Filing Id is 20240621141830SC362440